#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC-08-1808

## LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 85-8933 CFANO

MARK ALLEN DAVIS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA MCDERMOTT

Florida Bar No. 0102857

McClain & McDermott, P.A.

Attorneys at Law

141 N.E. 30<sup>th</sup> Street

Wilton Manors, Florida 33334

Telephone: (850) 322-2172

FAX: (954) 564-5412

Counsel for Appellant MARK ALLEN DAVIS

## REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of a postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing. The following abbreviations will be utilized to cite to the record in this cause, with appropriate volume and page number(s) following the abbreviation:

"R." - record on direct appeal to this Court;

"PC-R." - record on appeal after an evidentiary hearing;

"Def. Ex." - defense exhibits introduced during the evidentiary hearing;

"Supp. PC-R." - supplemental record on appeal;

"PC-R2." - record on appeal following the summary denial of Mr. Davis' successive postconviction motion.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 18, 1985, Mr. Davis was indicted and charged with premeditated first degree murder, armed robbery and grand theft (R. 8-10). Mr. Davis pleaded not guilty (R. 68).

Mr. Davis' trial was held in January, 1987. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on each count (R. 217-19). The following week, after a brief penalty phase, the jury, by an 8 - 4 vote, recommended the death sentence and the trial court imposed death (R. 234, 265-73).

On June 1, 1990, during direct appeal, this Court remanded Mr. Davis' case for a hearing to determine whether Mr. Davis was absent from the courtroom during a critical stage of his trial, and if so, whether he waived his presence.

Circuit Judge John P. Griffin, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, presided over the hearing and found that Mr. Davis did not make a valid waiver but that Mr. Davis was present during jury selection. This Court affirmed Mr. Davis' convictions and sentences on direct appeal. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 586 So. 2d 1038 (1991).

The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari, vacated judgement, and remanded to this Court for reconsideration in light of <a href="Espinosa v. Florida">Espinosa v. Florida</a>, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992). <a href="Davis v. Florida">Davis v. Florida</a>, 112 S.Ct. 3021 (1992).

This Court affirmed Mr. Davis' convictions and sentences on remand from the United States Supreme Court. Davis v. State, 620 So.

2d 152 (1993). The United States Supreme Court subsequently denied certiorari. Davis v. State, 114 S.Ct. 1205 (1994).

In July, 1995, Mr. Davis filed a Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 25-191). The motion was amended on May 3, 2000 (PC-R. 2044-2267). An evidentiary hearing was held on November 5-9, 2001. On March 28, 2002, the lower court entered an order denying Mr. Davis' claims (PC-R. 2898-2928). Mr. Davis filed a motion for rehearing which was denied on May 16, 2002 (PC-R. 3162-66).

Mr. Davis appealed the lower court's ruling to this Court.

Simultaneously, Mr. Davis filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus.

On October 20, 2005, this Court denied all relief. Davis v. State,

928 So. 2d 1089 (Fla. 2005). Mr. Davis filed a petition for certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on October 2, 2006. Davis v. Florida, 127 S.Ct 206 (2006).

On February 28, 2006, Mr. Davis filed a successive petition for writ of habeas corpus, based on the United States Supreme Court's ruling in Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005). This Court denied relief on June 9, 2006. Davis v. State, Case No. SC06-394 (June 9, 2006).

On April 19, 2007, Mr. Davis filed a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court, Middle District of Florida. That petition is currently pending.

On February 21, 2008, Mr. Davis filed a successive Rule 3.851

motion alleging newly discovered evidence (PC-R2. Vol. 1, 1-36). Following a response by the State, a case management conference was held on April 11, 2008 (PC-R2. Vol III, 1-66). Thereafter, on July 3, 2008, the circuit court entered an order denying Mr. Davis' motion without an evidentiary hearing (PC-R2. Vol. II, 200-309). Mr. Davis filed a motion for rehearing (PC-R2. Vol. II, 310-19), which was denied on August 14, 2008 (PC-R2. Vol II, 320). On September 12, 2008, Mr. Davis filed a notice of appeal to this Court (PC-R2. Vol. II, 321-22). This appeal follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In addition, Mr. Davis challenged the current lethal injection protocol that was adopted on July 31, 2007.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Upon his arrest in Illinois, Mr. Davis related to law enforcement the circumstances under which he had stabbed Orville Landis:

At that point, Mark said, I guess I will tell you the truth. He started back and he told everything was true about meeting the victim earlier that day with the beer, that he had helped him unload his car, they had drank some, that he had borrowed \$20 from the victim during the day and he pawned his tattoo equipment. He had a blue and white cooler with Tattoo equipment inside it and he had borrowed \$20 from the equipment, gave him that as security.

He then said that he and the victim drank and went to several bars, the Dave's Aqua Lounge and Golden Arrow Pub and he said about 11, somewhere around 11 o'clock, the victim went to bed.

He went down - he went back over to the Golden Arrow Pub. You (sic) came back for a pair of socks from Carl Kearney, went back and knocked on the victim's door and said the victim was dressed in nothing but a pair of pants, no shirt, no shoes. He told the victim he needed to borrow - at this point Davis didn't remember whether it was \$2 or \$5 that he needed to borrow from him. The victim told him he would have to do something for it. He reached down and grabbed - Davis said, grabbed my nuts and I struck him at this time with my right hand somewhere around the neck or throat area, knocking him down on the floor.

\* \* \*

Victim laid there grasping for breath and choking. In a little bit, he got back up and he struck him the second time. He didn't know where he struck him, whether right hand or his left hand. He hit him again. They began to fight. He walked back to the small room towards the kitchen area. Victim picked up a long butcher knife. He took the butcher knife

away from the victim and began hitting him with it.

Q: . . At that point in time is he saying they were over by the bed?

A: On the bed.

\* \* \*

A: He said he hit him several times with the knife, with the big butcher knife. He got a smaller knife which is over in that area and that he cut his throat with the smaller knife and stabbed him several times with it.

Then he said, he got up, washed the blood off the knives in the bathroom sink and washed his hands.

\* \* \*

Said went through the victim's wallet. He got 80 or \$85 out of the wallet and at this time, he was afraid so he took the victim's car and he went to Tampa.

#### (R. 1274-77).

During the trial, the State presented a different picture of Mr. Davis, a cold, calculated, premeditated murderer who was manipulating the system. The State presented evidence that Mr. Davis was not intoxicated at the time of the crime and that he told an individual of his intent before the crime to "do him [the victim] in". The State also presented evidence through a jailhouse snitch, Shannon Stevens, that Mr. Davis told him that he was "going to try for second degree murder" (R. 1206).

The jury accepted the State's version of events, as Mr. Davis was found guilty of first degree murder. Likewise, the trial court accepted the State's version of events, as the court found as an

aggravating factor that the crime was committed in a "cold, calculated and premeditated" manner.

During his initial postconviction proceedings, Mr. Davis presented evidence, either through the State's failure to disclose or trial counsel's failure to prepare, that he was in fact intoxicated at the time of the crime; and that the crime was not premeditated. And, most recently in his successive postconviction motion, Mr. Davis has asserted new evidence which, when considered cumulatively, require that Mr. Davis' conviction and sentence be overturned.

#### B. THE TRIAL

The State's key witnesses at trial toward establishing Mr. Davis' premeditated actions were Kimberly Rieck and Beverly Castle. Rieck and Castle were the only witnesses who testified who observed Mr. Davis and the victim on the day of the crimes. At trial, Rieck and Castle described the interactions of Mr. Davis and Landis; comments that they heard Mr. Davis make both to Landis and to them; the amount of alcohol they believed Mr. Davis to have consumed and what they observed about his behavior in relation to his alcohol consumption.

Specifically, Rieck testified that a day or two before the crimes, Mr. Davis informed her that he had "problems with money" (R. 927). In addition, Rieck testified that on the day of the crimes, Mr. Davis told her: "that he was going to take the old man for what

 $<sup>^2</sup>$ There were no witnesses to what actually occurred between Mr. Davis and the victim.

he could" (R. 927), and that "[h]e said get him drunk and see what he could get out of him." As to Mr. Davis' level of intoxication, the State inquired:

Q: Do you know how much either one of them had to drink during the day?

A: No.

 $\ensuremath{\text{Q}} \colon \ensuremath{\text{Did}}$  you have later contact with Mark Davis that day?

A: Yep.

Q: Can you tell us a little about that?

A: It was around four-thirty or five o'clock. We had Mark take us to get Carl's car . .

Q: Now, did Mark Davis do the driving at any point in time?

A: Yes, he took us there.

Q: Did he have any difficulty in driving the car when he took you there?

A: No, he didn't.

Q: During the course of the day when you had conversations with him, was his speech slurred or impaired in any fashion?

A: No, it wasn't.

Q: Was he staggering or unable to walk properly in your opinion on all other observations of the man?

A: No.

(R. 930-31).

Rieck testified that at 11:30 p.m. or midnight, Mr. Davis came

to her room (R. 934). He did not appear intoxicated (R. 935).

At Mr. Davis' trial, Castle testified that she was present at the apartment complex the morning of July 1<sup>st</sup> (R. 925, 954, 957). She testified that she observed Mr. Davis assist Mr. Landis move into his apartment (R. 959). Castle also testified that Mr. Davis wanted Landis to get involved in his tattooing business (R. 960). Castle described Mr. Davis as "a nervous young man" (R. 974).

When asked if she had seen Mr. Davis drinking, Castle said: "I seen him with a can of beer in his hands." (R. 960).

Later in the evening, Castle saw Mr. Davis and the victim arguing about money (R. 961). Castle testified:

- Q: What do you mean they were arguing about money? Can you tell us what that conversation was?
- A: Okay. I was sitting out in front of my apartment. Like I had said it was hot. There was no air conditioning. That's the reason I was even out there. And Mark was calling Skip a queer and said he was going to rip the old man off.

\* \* \*

- Q: He use any other words to describe how he was going to take Mr. Landis and what he was going to take if he was going to take something?
  - A: Just said he was going to rip him off and do him in.

(R. 961-62). Later, Castle added her interpretation of what Mr. Davis said: "Well, that's young kids talk. I have a teenager you know. To do away with someone at least the way children I know talk,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Rieck had previously testified that Castle was working on the day of the crimes and not present until the evening (R. 925).

was to kill them, get rid of them" (R. 972).

Castle was again asked about Mr. Davis' intoxication. She testified that at approximately 8:00 p.m., "Mark didn't seem like he was drunk . . . He wasn't stumbling around like [the victim] was anyway. He seemed coherent. He knew what he was doing" (R. 965). She also testified that Mr. Davis stopped drinking in the evening (R. 991). On cross examination, defense counsel attempted to impeach Castle with her statement that was taken on July 2<sup>nd</sup>, wherein Castle told the police that Mr. Davis got drunker and drunker throughout the day (R. 977), and that Mr. Davis and Landis drank beer and vodka (R. 979). During the statement, Detective Rhodes specifically asked Castle if they were both drunk and Castle stated: "Oh, bad, very bad.". Additionally, Castle had told the police that at 10:30 p.m., "they were both real drunk." (R. 978).

In discussing the import of Rieck and Castle's testimony, the State told the jury: "We have a man whose intent it was all day to rip this old man off. That's all he is talking about to Beverly Castle and Kimberly Rieck. He was going to rip him off. He made the statement to Kimberly Rieck. I am going to get him drunk and I am going to get his money. He made the statement to Beverly Castle. I am going to rip him off and I am going to do away with him. . . . Killed him during the course of a robbery" (R. 1394-5). The State also told the jury to believe Rieck and Castle's testimony that Mr. Davis was not intoxicated on the day of the crimes.

As to Rieck and Castle's credibility, the State argued: "They're two witnesses who were there all day. And Mr. White would have you suggest that they are for some reason coming in here or lying or minimizing or shading their testimony. . . . Did you at any point in time hear Mr. White in any way impeach those ladies on the statements this Defendant made to them?" (R. 1404).

#### C. POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

During his postconviction proceedings, Mr. Davis asserted claims based on ineffective assistance of counsel as well as a <a href="mailto:Brady/Giglio">Brady/Giglio</a> violation. Mr. Davis claimed that significant evidence not presented to the jury existed which would have established that he was intoxicated at the time of the crime, that the crime was not premeditated, and that several witnesses had been untruthful in their testimony.

This evidence included statements to the State by Jean Born and Glenda South describing Mr. Davis and Landis as being very drunk on the evening of the crime (Def. Ex. 6); a statement by George Lee to police that he encountered Mr. Davis as late as midnight in a bar on the evening of July 1<sup>st</sup>, and he observed that Mr. Davis bought quite a few drinks and was drinking (Def. Ex. 5); a statement by Castle to the prosecutor that "She also observed defendant go to the bar next door on foot at about 4:00, he was gone several hours. He went alone. When he got back at about 6 - 6:30, he wanted more beer, he appeared hyper, his eyes were glassy and glared, he stared, she believed he

was drunk" (Def. Ex. 12); a statement by Castle that she saw Mr. Davis at 10:30 p.m. and she described Mr. Davis as acting "real drunk" (Def. Ex. 13); and a statement by Rieck indicating that she never told the police that Mr. Davis had given her a ride the previous evening or that he made any statement to her during the day about getting the victim drunk "to see what he could get out of him." (Def. Ex. 6).

#### D. SUCCESSIVE POSTCONVICTION MOTION

In his successive postconviction motion, Mr. Davis alleged newly discovered evidence that witnesses Rieck and Castle did indeed lie, minimize or shade their testimony. On November 9, 2007, Rieck signed a declaration stating:

COMES NOW, the declarant, Kimberly Rieck Kearney, and declares under penalty of perjury all as follows:

- 1. My name is Kimberly Rieck Kearney and I reside in Pekin, Illinois. In 1987, I testified at the trial of Mark Davis in Pinellas County, Florida.
- 2. When Mark made statements about "playing the man for his money", I thought only that he planned to get some free stuff from him, not that he was going to commit any crime against him. I never heard Mark make any statement about "doing away with" anybody.
- 3. Mark was quite drunk the day the man was killed; he had been drinking all day. When I saw him later that night, when he came to ask for socks, he had to have been very drunk.
- 4. My boyfriend, Carl Kearney, was arrested before the trial as a hostile witness; the police came and got him in Virginia in the middle of the night. I was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Rieck and Castle's original statements to law enforcement and Castle's statement to the State Attorney's Office contained no information that Mr. Davis had any plan to rob or harm the victim.

told that if I didn't come to Florida to testify that Carl would sit in jail. I didn't want to testify but felt I had no choice. I was uncomfortable with my testimony because I was uncertain of the facts and circumstances.

(PC-R2. Vol. 1, 35).

In a sworn affidavit dated November 9, 2007, Beverly Castle stated:

- I, Beverly Castle, having been duly sworn or affirmed, do hereby depose and say:
- 1. My name is Beverly Castle and I reside in Pekin, Illinois. In 1987, I testified at the trial of Marl Davis in Pinellas County, Florida. I am now concerned that my testimony at trial was less than accurate.
- 2. When Mark made statements about "playing the man for his money" and "ripping him off", I took that to mean that he would get him to bankroll their party by buying cigarettes and booze. I never thought that Mark intended to rob him or commit any actual crime against him.
- 3. Mark never said that he planned to "do away with" the man. I felt a great deal of pressure while being questioned by the police: they wanted something tangible and I knew I wasn't getting out of there until I gave it to them. As soon as I did, saying Mark said he would "do away with" the man, I was out the door.
- 4. During the questioning, I was physically and emotionally worn out, and just tired of the whole shebang. If Mark had really threatened to "do away with" the man, I would have gone straight to my daughter Kim and said, "This guys in danger." I'm not the type of person who would just slough off a statement like that.
- 5. I had worked the day the man was killed, and didn't see all the drinking, but Mark did seem drunk to me. At the trial, when I said I didn't know how drunk Mark was, I was just trying not to make a guess. If I had been asked my opinion, I would have said that Mark was probably very drunk, especially because they were drinking in the heat, and Mark was not used to

the Florida heat.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Castle's affidavit was attached to Mr. Davis' postconviction motion as Appendix C. However, it appears to have been inadvertently omitted from the record. Simultaneous to this brief, Mr. Davis is filing a motion to supplement the record to include this document.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. In Mr. Davis' case, the lower court erroneously failed to grant an evidentiary hearing despite allegations regarding the substance of the new evidence, the constitutional claims based upon the new evidence, and Mr. Davis' diligence in attempting to unearth the new evidence. The lower court failed to take the facts as true, largely ignoring Mr. Davis' allegations in the order summarily denying relief, and applied erroneous legal standards. This Court should order an evidentiary hearing.
- 2. Recently discovered evidence demonstrates that Mr.

  Davis' capital conviction and death sentence are constitutionally unreliable in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The evidence establishes that Mr. Davis' right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and his rights under the Fifth, Sixth and Eighth Amendments were violated, because the State withheld evidence which was material and exculpatory in nature and/or presented false evidence, or that trial counsel was ineffective in his representation of Mr. Davis. At a minimum the new evidence constitutes newly discovered evidence.
- 3. The existing procedure that the State of Florida utilizes for lethal injection violates the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as it constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The claims presented in this appeal are constitutional issues involving mixed questions of law and fact and are reviewed de novo, giving deference only to the trial court's fact findings. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1034 (Fla. 1999); State v. Glatzmayer, 789 So. 2d 297, 301 n.7 (Fla. 2001). The lower court denied an evidentiary hearing, and therefore the facts presented in this appeal must be taken as true. Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999); Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999); Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989).

## ARGUMENT

#### ARGUMENT I

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN DENYING MR. DAVIS' RULE 3.851 MOTION WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

The law attendant to the granting of an evidentiary hearing in a postconviction proceeding is often stated and well settled:

"[u]nder rule 3.850, a postconviction defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion and record conclusively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief." Gaskin v. State, 737

So. 2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999). Accord Patton v. State, 784 So. 2d 380, 386 (Fla. 2000); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 914-15 (Fla. 2000). The rule is the same for a successive postconviction motion, where allegations of previous unavailability of new facts, as well as diligence of the movant, warrant evidentiary development if disputed or if a procedural bar does not "appear[] on the face of the pleadings." Card v. State, 652 So. 2d 344, 346 (Fla. 1995). Factual

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