IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK ALLEN DAVIS

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-1808 L.T. No. 85-8933 CFANO Death Penalty Case

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA Chief Assistant Attorney General Capital Appeals Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0445071 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

A postconviction court's decision regarding whether to grant a rule 3.851 evidentiary hearing is subject to *de novo* review. *Ventura v. State*, 2009 Fla. LEXIS 131, 7-8 (Fla. Jan. 29, 2009) ("postconviction court's decision regarding whether to grant a rule

б

3.851 evidentiary hearing depends upon the written materials before the court; thus, for all practical purposes, its ruling is tantamount to a pure question of law and is subject to *de novo* review.")

This held that Court has а successive motion for postconviction relief may be summarily denied if conclusively refuted by the record or facially invalid. Rolling v. State, 944 So. 2d 176, 179 (Fla. 2006), quoting McLin v. State, 827 So. 2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002), quoting Foster v. Moore, 810 So. 2d 910, 914 (Fla. 2002). A successive motion may be denied for failure to raise the grounds in a prior motion, unless based on newly discovered evidence. Owen v. Crosby, 854 So. 2d 182, 187 (Fla. 2003); Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997). It is the Defendant's "burden of demonstrating why the claim was not raised before." Riechmann v. State, 966 So. 2d 298, 305 (Fla. 2007). "A second or successive motion for postconviction relief can be denied on the ground that it is an abuse of process if there is no reason for failing to raise the issues in the previous motion." Owen v. Crosby at 187. In Riechmann, the Court agreed that the successive claim was procedurally barred and properly summarily denied because the record revealed that trial counsel was aware of the facts on which the successive claim was based. A claim of newly discovered evidence must be filed within one year of discovery or when it could have been discovered with due diligence. Glock v. Moore, 776

So. 2d 243, 250-251 (Fla. 2001). In *Riechmann*, at 304, the Court affirmed that the successive Motion was time-barred for failure of Defendant to have exercised due diligence.

The successive motion raised two issues purportedly under the exception for newly discovered evidence. The first concerned witnesses Kimberly Rieck and Beverly Castle and the second challenged Florida's procedures for execution. A claim to vacate a judgment or sentence which is based on newly discovered evidence may be summarily denied when the evidence relied on is not new or probably would not produce acquittal on retrial or yield a less severe sentence. Diaz v. State, 945 So. 2d 1136, 1144-45 (Fla. 2006), citing Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991). Schwab v. State, 969 So. 2d 318, 325 (Fla. 2007), citing Jones v. State, 709 So. 2d 512, 521 (Fla. 1998). Newly discovered evidence is defined by this Court as concerning "facts that were 'unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial' and which could not have been discovered by the Defendant or counsel through the use of due diligence." Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 514 (Fla. 1999).

The trial court is to consider only the alleged newly discovered evidence which would be admissible and compare it with the trial testimony. If admissible, the court is to consider whether the newly discovered evidence goes to the merits of the case or is mere impeachment or merely cumulative and whether there

are inconsistencies. Williamson v. State, 961 So. 2d 229, 234 (Fla. 2007), citing Jones v. State, 678 So. 2d 309, 315 (Fla. 1996); Jones, 591 So. 2d at 916 and Jones, 709 So. 2d at 521; Tompkins v. State, 980 So. 2d 451, 457 (Fla. 2007).

The lower court denied the request for an evidentiary hearing explaining:

Pleading Requirements of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(e)(2(C)

The State is correct that the Defendant's pleadings fail to conform to rule 3.851(e)(2)(C) which states that the Defendant, when pleading newly discovered evidence based on <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), or <u>Giglio</u> v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), must provide:

"(i) the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of supporting the claim; all witnesses (ii) а statement that the witness will be available should an evidentiary hearing be scheduled, to testify under oath to the facts alleged in the motion or affidavit; (iii) if evidentiary support is in the form of documents, copies of all documents shall be attached, including any affidavits obtained; and (iv) as to any witness or document listed in the motion or attachment to the motion, a statement of the reason why the witness or document was not previously available."

Not only are no phone numbers provided for Kimberly Rieck and Beverly Castle, contrary to the requirement of rule 3.851(e)(2)(C)(i), but the Defendant fails to allege that the witnesses would be available to testify under oath should an evidentiary hearing be scheduled or provide a statement as to why the witnesses were not previously available. Furthermore, in footnote 9 of the Defendant's motion he further claims that Rosa Greenbaum, Mark McKeown, Jeffrey Walsh, and John White, are more witnesses that support his claim. However, not only are no phone numbers given for these witnesses or statements as to their availability, but no factual basis as to why an evidentiary hearing is sought with regard to these witnesses is provided.

Newly Discovered Evidence

While the Defendant claims that Kimberly Rieck's and Beverly Castle's statements are newly discovered because the Defendant was only recently able to interview the witnesses, the Defendant fails to allege what previous efforts were made to locate and interview them. For the motion to be considered timely, the Defendant is required to have filed the successive rule 3.851 motion within one year of when the claim became discoverable through due diligence.

The Defendant fails to provide an explanation as to why he would have trouble locating the witnesses. The record shows that Kimberly Rieck, Beverly Castle's daughter, testified at trial that they were originally from Pekin, Illinois, the Defendant's home town. See Exhibit A: Jury Trial Transcript, pp. 336, 360, 392 (RAC [fn1] 917, 941, 973). Furthermore, Kimberly Rieck testified at trial that she had met the Defendant twice in Pekin, Illinois, through her boyfriend Carl Kearney, a friend of the Defendant's. See Exhibit A: Jury Trial Transcript, pp. 336-340 (RAC 917-921). And the Defendant testified during the penalty phase that his home town is Pekin, Illinois, and that he had two brothers and two sisters from there. See Exhibit B: Penalty Phase Trial Transcript, pq. 33 (RAC 1518). In addition, at the rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing held on November 5 - 9, 2001, the Defendant's sisters, Shari Uhiman and Candace Lonus, testified that they still lived in Pekin, Illinois. See Exhibit C: 3.850 Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pp. 208, 237 (RAC 3981, 4010).

Likewise, the Defendant fails to establish that the State withheld material and exculpatory evidence and/or presented false testimony, or that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to reveal to the jury that Kimberly Rieck and Beverly Castle had a motive to lie. The State correctly argues that it is inconsistent for the Defendant to claim that it took him over twenty years to learn of Kimberly Rieck and Beverly Castle having lied at trial but that the Defendant's trial counsel should have discovered it sooner or that the State must have known about it at the time of trial. The allegations do not meet the definition for newly discovered evidence for failure to allege facts of due diligence, making the claim untimely under rule 3.851. The information was not presented within one year of when the information could have been acquired with due diligence, some of the information presented is not admissible, and all of the information, even in light of previous proceedings in this case, probably would not produce an acquittal given the trial evidence as well as the evidence evinced at the previous 3.850/3.851 hearing.

(SPCR2/203-205)(footnote omitted)

First, Davis admits he failed to comply with the rule requirements for filing a successive motion raising a newly discovered evidence claim by failing to provide the names, numbers and addresses of witnesses he intended to call and a statement as to why the witness or document was not previously available.¹ He contends, however, that he "cured" the failure by providing said

¹ Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(e)(2) provides in pertinent part:

(2) Successive Motion. A motion filed under this rule is successive if a state court has previously ruled on a postconviction motion challenging the same judgment and sentence. A successive motion shall not exceed 25 pages, exclusive of attachments, and shall include:

(C) if based upon newly discovered evidence, Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963), or Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 31 L. Ed. 2d 104, 92 S. Ct. 763 (1972), the following:

(i) the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of all witnesses supporting the claim; (ii) a statement that the witness will be available, should an evidentiary hearing be scheduled, to testify under oath to the facts alleged in the motion or affidavit; (iii) if evidentiary support is in the form of documents, copies of all documents shall be attached, including any affidavits obtained; and (iv) as to any witness or document listed in the motion or attachment to the motion, a statement of the reason why the witness or document was not previously available.

information in his motion for rehearing. This Court recently affirmed, in part, a summary denial of the lethal injection claim presented herein based on the defendant's failure to comply with the pleading requirements of the rule:

At the outset, Ventura failed to comply with rule 3.851(e)(2)(C) because he never attached any of the relevant lethal-injection documents to his successive postconviction motion and he did not proffer any witnesses to support his claims. For these reasons, Ventura's successive motion is legally insufficient. See Hunter, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S722, S725 (holding that the defendant-appellant failed to comply with rule 3.851(e)(2)(C) because he did not attach relevant documents and did not proffer any expert witnesses to support his claim). However, even if Ventura had attached supporting documents and provided sufficient notice regarding expert witnesses, his lethal-injection claim would nonetheless remain meritless.

Ventura v. State, 2009 Fla. LEXIS 131, 8-9 (Fla. Jan. 29, 2009).

To hold that the failure to comply with the pleading requirement could be "cured" by subsequently providing the information in a motion for rehearing would completely undermine the purpose of the rule and would be a waste of valuable judicial resources. In the instant case, the motion for rehearing was filed six months after the initial motion and four months after the case management conference where defendant was on notice that he had failed to comply with the rules. There can be no good faith basis to assert that it is unfair to hold him to the rules when he made no attempt to supply the information until after relief had been denied.

Davis also contends that the trial court erred by not

accepting the newest version of Rieck and Castle's statements as true, he contends that the court dismissed the allegations not because they were refuted by the record but because they were in conflict with what was already in the record. In fact, the trial court did not decline to accept the affidavits as true. Rather, the court denied the claim because Davis failed to provide an explanation as to why he did not locate the witnesses earlier and because, when viewed as a whole, including conflicts with the evidence, the newly crafted affidavits would probably not produce an acquittal.

In the motion, Davis merely asserted, "Despite previous efforts to locate and interview Rieck and Castle, Mr. Davis was only recently able to interview the witnesses." (SPCR 1/7) Having failed to comply with the rule and present a motion sworn to by the defendant alleging the factual basis for failing to interview the known trial witnesses, counsel asserted during the case management conference that she was entitled to an evidentiary hearing to establish due diligence. (SPCT 1/10) In response to the State's objection to her testifying at the case management conference, counsel subsequently offered to provide evidence of due diligence in a supplemental or amended motion. (SPCT 1/12) No such motion was ever presented to the court. Notably, even the motion for rehearing was nothing more than the same barebones allegations argued at the case management conference that they conducted

computer searches in 2000 and traveled to Illinois to determine the location of Rieck and Castle. The only specifics counsel offered were that they got an address for Castle but could not make contact at that address despite repeated attempts.² (SPCR 2/311) A few attempts over the span of a decade does not amount to due diligence.

Beyond that one insufficient explanation, nothing in the motion to vacate, oral argument or the motion for rehearing explains what actions were taken to locate these witnesses in the year immediately preceding the filing of the successive motion, much less the eight years following the filing of the initial motion. It is not enough for Davis to say that they looked in 2000 and could not contact the witnesses and, therefore, they were "off the hook" until they decided to once again look for the witnesses in 2008. To satisfy the time requirements for newly discovered evidence Davis must show that with due diligence the evidence could not have been discovered within one year of the filing of the successive motion. Glock v. Moore, 776 So. 2d 243, 250-251 (Fla. 2001) (A claim of newly discovered evidence must be filed within one year of discovery or when it could have been discovered with due diligence.) The motion was properly denied as insufficiently plead and untimely.

² Rieck is Castle's daughter and the same address for them was provided in the Successive Motion, as 1013 Charles Street, Pekin, Illinois 61554.

With regard to the impact of the newly crafted version of Rieck and Castle's statements, even accepting the statements as true, the court must still put them in the context of the trial evidence in determining if an evidentiary hearing is warranted under the newly discovered evidence standard. Henyard v. State, 992 So. 2d 120, 127-128 (Fla. 2008) (upholding summary denial of "newly discovered" evidence that co-defendant was the shooter); Tompkins v. State, 980 So. 2d 451, 458-59 (Fla. 2007) (affidavit contradicting part of the trial testimony, but not providing credible new evidence that another person may have committed the murder, was insufficient to require an evidentiary hearing); Diaz v. State, 945 So. 2d 1136, 1145-46 (Fla. 2006) (claim of newly discovered evidence of affidavit of a trial witness who stated he had not heard Diaz say he shot the victim as he testified at trial, but had inferred it from his hand motions properly summarily denied.) The trial court, in the instant case, properly concluded that no hearing was warranted because the evidence probably would not produce an acquittal given the trial evidence as well as the evidence evinced at the previous 3.850/3.851 hearing. (SPCR 2/205)

For all of the foregoing reasons the denial of the evidentiary hearing and the motion should be affirmed.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.851 CLAIM OF NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE THAT THE STATE WITHHELD MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE AND/OR PRESENTED FALSE TESTIMONY, OR TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN REPRESENTING DEFENDANT.

Davis next claims that the trial court erred in denying his claim that the affidavits of Beverly Castle and an unnotarized declaration of Kimberly Rieck Kearney, both dated November 9, 2007, was newly discovered evidence which established that the state either withheld information or knowingly presented false evidence or that defense counsel was ineffective.³ The motion clamed these recent statements were newly discovered because "[d]espite previous efforts to locate and interview Rieck and Castle, Mr. Davis was only recently able to interview the witnesses." (SPCR 1/7)

As previously noted, the allegations do not meet the definition for newly discovered evidence for failure to allege facts of due diligence. The Claim is untimely under Rule 3.851 as not presented within one year of when the information could have

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